

**BY-LAWS OF THE FACULTY
OF THE
COLLEGE OF ARTS AND SCIENCES**

~~March 20, 2013~~ April 20, 2016

|

ARTICLE I.	PURPOSE
Section 1	Purpose
ARTICLE II.	MEMBERSHIP
Section 2	Members
Section 3	Members <i>Ex Officio</i>
Section 4	Voting Privileges
Section 5	Non-Voting Members
ARTICLE III.	RESPONSIBILITIES
Section 6	Responsibilities of the Faculty
ARTICLE IV.	MEETINGS
Section 7	Regular Meetings
Section 8	Special meetings
Section 9	Notification
Section 10	Chair, Quorum, and Order of Business
ARTICLE V.	COMMITTEES
Section 11	Standing Committees
Section 12	Selection and Terms of Office
Section 13	Special Committees
ARTICLE VI.	EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE
Section 14	Membership
Section 15	Election and Terms
Section 16	Executive Committee Chair
Section 17	Regular Meetings
Section 18	Special Meetings
Section 19	Notification of Meetings
Section 20	Agenda
Section 21	Chairing Meetings
Section 22	Responsibilities
Section 23	Quorum and Voting
ARTICLE VII.	COMMITTEE ON APPOINTMENTS
Section 24	Composition, Terms, Meetings and Presiding Officer
Section 25	Responsibilities
Section 26	Procedures
Section 27	Changes in Procedure
ARTICLE VIII.	GRADUATE COMMITTEE
Section 28	Membership
Section 29	Responsibilities

ARTICLE IX.	COMMITTEE ON EDUCATIONAL PROGRAMS
Section 30	Membership
Section 31	Responsibilities
ARTICLE X.	DEPARTMENTS
Section 32	Departments
Section 33	Department By-Laws
Section 34	Appointment of Chairpersons and Term of Office
Section 35	Responsibilities of Department Chairpersons
Section 36	Chair Council
ARTICLE XI.	THE DEAN OF THE COLLEGE
Section 37	Appointment
Section 38	Responsibilities
ARTICLE XII.	REPRESENTATION IN UNIVERSITY GOVERNANCE
Section 39	Faculty Senate
Section 40	Other Bodies
ARTICLE XIII.	POLICIES ON APPOINTMENT, REAPPOINTMENT, PROMOTION, AND TENURE OF FACULTY
Section 41	Faculty Titles and Definitions for Special Faculty Members
Section 42	Qualifications and Standards for Appointment, Reappointment, Promotion, and Tenure
Section 43	Rights and Obligations of Faculty
Section 44	Procedures for Review of Tenure-track Faculty
Section 45	Terminations in the Case of Financial Exigent Circumstances
ARTICLE XIV.	AMENDMENTS
Section 46	Proposal
Section 47	Approval
ARTICLE XV.	RATIFICATION
Section 48	Ratification

ARTICLE I. PURPOSE

Section 1. Purpose

The purpose of these by-laws is to provide regulations to govern the faculty of the College of Arts and Sciences in discharging its responsibilities as provided for in the Constitution of the University Faculty.

ARTICLE II. MEMBERSHIP

Section 2. Members

Members of the faculty shall be all persons holding tenured or tenure-track appointments (assistant professor, associate professor, and professor), non-tenure track appointments (instructor and senior instructor), or special faculty appointments (see Article XIII, Section 42), as defined in the Faculty Handbook, Chapter 2, Article I, Sections A-C, in the departments listed in Section 32. Appointments of assistant professor, associate professor, and professor shall be exclusively tenured or tenure-track. Appointments of instructor and senior instructor shall be the only non-tenure-track appointments.

Section 3. Members *Ex Officio*

The following persons shall be members of the faculty *ex officio*: the President, the Provost, the Dean of the College, the Dean of Undergraduate Studies, the Director of the University Libraries, and the Dean of Graduate Studies.

Section 4. Voting Privileges

All faculty members who are tenured, tenure-track, or non-tenure-track (i.e., instructors and senior instructors), and all members *ex officio* shall have the right to vote. The official list of members of the faculty is that list submitted each year by the Dean of the College to the Secretary of the University Faculty, as provided in the Faculty Handbook, Chapter 2, Article I, Section F.

Section 5. Non-voting Members

Persons holding emeritus or special faculty appointments shall be invited to attend faculty meetings and participate in discussion but shall not vote.

ARTICLE III. RESPONSIBILITIES

Section 6. Responsibilities of the Faculty

The Faculty of the College of Arts and Sciences is responsible for all academic affairs of the college. As provided in the Constitution of the University Faculty, Article VII, Section A., Par. 1.d, the faculty recommends awarding of degrees in course. Other specific responsibilities include but are not limited to the following: a) making recommendations to the Faculty Senate regarding requirements and standards for degrees, standards of admission for students, approval of new degrees, and discontinuance of existing degrees; b) review and approval of curricula and

content of degree programs; and c) setting standards for and making recommendations regarding facilities for teaching, research, and scholarship.

ARTICLE IV. MEETINGS

Section 7. Regular Meetings

The faculty shall hold regular meetings at least once each semester in October and March on dates to be determined by the Executive Committee in consultation with the Dean of the College. The faculty at any regular meeting may, by majority vote, fix the date of the next regular meeting. The October meeting shall be designated the annual meeting and shall include reports by the chair of the Executive Committee and the Dean of the College on activities of the preceding and current academic years.

Section 8. Special Meetings

The faculty shall hold special meetings when called by the President, the Dean of the College, the majority of the Executive Committee, or on petition to the Dean of the College signed by no fewer than 10 percent of the voting members of the faculty. The purpose of such a special meeting shall be stated by the person or group requesting the meeting. The business of the special meeting shall be limited to the matter or matters for which the meeting was called.

Section 9. Notification

The Dean of the College shall notify each member in writing at least seven days before each regular meeting and at least three days before each special meeting, specifying the time, place, and agenda of the meeting. The Dean of the College shall provide for recording minutes of all meetings of the faculty and of the Executive Committee and for distributing them to all members of the faculty.

Section 10. Chair, Quorum, and Order of Business

The President, or in the absence of the President, the chair of the Executive Committee or an Executive Committee member designated by the chair, shall preside at both regular and special meetings of the faculty. Each meeting shall be conducted in accordance with the latest edition of *Robert's Rules of Order*. Twenty percent of the voting membership shall constitute a quorum. Decision shall be made by majority vote of the members in attendance.

The order of business at all regular meetings shall be as follows:

- a. Presentation and adoption of minutes
- b. Resolutions in memoriam
- c. Introduction of new faculty members
- d. Announcements
- e. Report of the Executive Committee
- f. Report of standing and special committees
- g. Report of the Faculty Senate's Representative to the Executive Committee
- h. Consideration of unfinished business
- i. Consideration of new business

ARTICLE V. COMMITTEES

Section 11. Standing Committees

The standing committees of the faculty shall be the Executive Committee, the Committee on Appointments, the Committee on Educational Programs, and the Graduate Committee.

Section 12. Selection and Terms of Office

Members of the standing committees shall be selected during the spring semester for the following year, by procedures specified in sections 14, 15, 24, 28, and 30. Terms of office shall begin on the day following commencement. The Dean of the College shall distribute to all members of the faculty a list of members to all standing and special committees at the beginning of each fall semester.

Section 13. Special Committees

The faculty may at any time provide for special committees to study and recommend on any matter or matters within its jurisdiction which it may deem appropriate.

ARTICLE VI. EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

Section 14. Membership

There shall be 12 members of the Executive Committee, 11 with a vote and one without. The voting members shall consist of nine persons elected from the tenured, tenure-track, and non-tenure-track members of the faculty; one member of the faculty elected at large by the Faculty Senate to represent the college on the Executive Committee of the Faculty Senate *ex officio*; and the Dean of the College *ex officio*. The non-voting member shall be selected annually by the Chair Council from among its members and shall serve as a liaison between the Executive Committee and the Chair Council (defined in Section 36).

Section 15. Election and Terms

Elected members of the Executive Committee shall serve overlapping three-year terms and shall not be eligible for immediate reelection.

Election shall be by a two-ballot process. The Dean of the College shall prepare and distribute a first, or nominating, ballot listing all persons eligible to serve according to the following rules: department chairpersons are not eligible for election. All faculty members who are tenured, tenure-track, or non-tenure-track (i.e., instructors and senior instructors) are eligible except those from departments already represented among continuing elected members of the Executive Committee.

The Dean of the College shall then prepare and distribute a second, or election, ballot according to the following rules: The election ballot shall list twice the number of nominees to be elected but also listing no more than one person from each eligible department. Subject to this rule, those persons receiving the greatest numbers of votes from the nominating ballot shall appear on the second ballot. The Executive Committee shall resolve any tie votes.

Vacancies shall be filled by reference to the results of the most recent election and in order of preference according to the votes cast. Vacancies must be filled according to the

eligibility rules outlined above. Persons selected to fill such vacancies shall be eligible for election when their terms expire.

Section 16. Executive Committee Chair

The chair of the Executive Committee shall be a tenured faculty member and shall be elected annually by the committee from among its elected members. The election of the new chair shall be conducted at the first meeting of the incoming committee which shall be called by the Dean of the College.

Section 17. Regular Meetings

The Executive Committee shall hold meetings monthly during the academic year beginning in September on dates to be selected by the chair. However, the Executive Committee may at any regular meeting, by majority vote, fix the date of the next regular meeting.

Section 18. Special Meetings

The Executive Committee shall hold special meetings when called by the President, the Dean of the College, or the chair. The chair shall call a special meeting when requested by three members of the Executive Committee or when requested by 10 members of the faculty by a petition stating the purposes of the proposed meeting.

Section 19. Notification of Meetings

The chair shall notify each member of the Executive Committee in writing at least seven days before each regular meeting and at least three days before each special meeting specifying the time, place, and agenda of the meeting.

Section 20. Agenda

The agenda for Executive Committee meetings normally shall be as follows:

- a. Approval of minutes for the previous meeting
- b. Announcements by the chair of the committee
- c. Dean's report
- d. Committee reports
- e. Chair Council and Faculty Senate reports
- f. Consideration of Unfinished Business
- g. Consideration of New Business

Any faculty member in the college may request that an issue be placed on the agenda. Items of new business may be placed on the agenda by any elected member of the Executive Committee or the dean.

Section 21. Chairing Meetings

The chair or, in the chair's absence, a member selected by the Executive Committee shall preside at both regular and special meetings of the Executive Committee.

Section 22. Responsibilities

The Executive Committee shall consider all matters of policy, procedure, and any other matter within the jurisdiction of the faculty which the committee may deem appropriate. Such

matters include but are not limited to appointments, reappointments, promotions, separations, tenure, academic freedom, curricula, professional and academic conduct, teaching load, student admission, terms and times of attendance, examinations, degree programs, and faculty organization.

A concern of the Executive Committee shall be fiscal planning and budget, and a subcommittee for that purpose may be established. Discussion of the college budget shall take place at least twice annually to consider budget matters at an early stage for the coming year and to review the budget after approval by the trustees.

The Executive Committee shall set the agenda for all regular meetings of the faculty, resolve tie votes in elections, and fill vacancies in committees.

The Executive Committee shall be advisory to the Dean of the College concerning the selection of department chairpersons, the appointment of special committees, and other matters that the Dean of the College may deem appropriate. It shall be advisory to the president in selection of the Dean of the College and shall nominate members of the search advisory committee in accordance with the Guidelines for Selecting Deans, Chapter 3, Part II, Section VIII. of Policies and Procedures for Members of the Faculty of Case Western Reserve University (hereinafter Policies and Procedures).

There shall be a review of the dean's performance every five years. The Executive Committee shall appoint a Dean Review Committee of six faculty members at the end of the fourth year of a dean's tenure which shall report to the Executive Committee by the end of the first semester of the fifth year. The review committee shall consider the dean's performance in the areas listed in Section 38: academic, fiscal, and administrative. The report summarizing the committee's findings shall be discussed with the dean prior to transmission to the Executive Committee. The Executive Committee shall transmit the report, together with the Executive Committee's recommendation with respect to reappointment, to the provost and the president.

The Executive Committee shall appoint the members of the Committee on Appointments and the Graduate Committee and prepare a slate of nominees for the Committee on Educational Programs in conformance with the criteria stipulated in Sections 24, 28, and 30.

The Executive Committee shall consider, on recommendation of the appropriate department chairperson, requests for sabbatical leaves of absence and shall forward them to the Dean of the College, together with the committee's recommendation on the merits of the study proposed and the applicant's qualifications to undertake it.

The Executive Committee, in conjunction with the Dean of the College, shall conduct elections in the spring semester for faculty senators representing the Faculty of the College of Arts and Sciences, according to the procedures specified in Section 39.

Section 23. Quorum and Voting

Six of the elected faculty members of the Executive Committee shall constitute a quorum and all decisions shall be by majority vote of those voting.

ARTICLE VII. COMMITTEE ON APPOINTMENTS

Section 24. Composition, Terms, Meetings, and Presiding Officer

The Committee on Appointments shall be composed of nine faculty members holding the rank of professor with tenure appointed by the Executive Committee, no two of whom shall be from the same department. The membership shall be selected so as to be broadly representative of the spectrum of disciplinary, scholarly, and research activities in the College of Arts and Sciences. Members shall serve a term of one year, but may be reappointed to a maximum of three consecutive years. The Dean of the College shall set a time and notify members of the first meeting each academic year. Vacancies for unexpired terms shall be filled by the Executive Committee. For meetings at which promotions, awards of tenure, or new appointments are acted upon, all members of the committee shall be present to constitute a quorum. At meetings dealing only with other matters, seven members shall constitute a quorum.

When an initial appointment must be considered and acted on at a time during which classes are not in session and, therefore, when some members may be unavailable to meet, the dean may appoint one or more temporary replacement members from among those who served on the committee in the previous academic year. Should this fail to constitute a nine-member group, the dean has the authority to make temporary special appointments in accordance with the composition guidelines outlined above in order to constitute a quorum of nine members.

The chair of the Committee on Appointments shall be elected annually by the committee at its first meeting of the academic year from among its own members. The Committee on Appointments shall hold meetings on dates to be determined by the chair, who shall notify each member at least three days before each meeting, specifying the time, place, and agenda for the meeting.

Section 25. Responsibilities

The Committee on Appointments shall consider all matters of tenure; promotions to the ranks of senior instructor, associate professor, professor, and research professor; initial appointments to the ranks of senior instructor, associate professor, professor, research associate professor, and research professor; appointments to chaired professorships; and third-year review of tenure-track faculty. The committee shall be advisory to the dean concerning appointments to chaired professorships. It shall also consider and make recommendations pertaining to the dismissal of tenured faculty members.

The committee is responsible for insuring the equitable applications of standards for assessing the credentials of all candidates considered by the Committee on Appointments in accordance with the Faculty Handbook, Chapter 3, Part One, Article I, Sections E-J. Assessment of tenured and tenure-track faculty shall be based on contributions to teaching, scholarly activity, research, creative performance, professional service, and service to the university and community, taking into account the different mixes and styles of contributions that are appropriate in different disciplinary areas. Assessment of research faculty shall be based on contributions to scholarly activity and research. Each faculty member whose appointment leads to tenure consideration shall be considered for tenure no later than six years after the date of initial appointment to the tenure track.

Section 26. Procedures

At the beginning of each fall semester, the Dean of the College shall draw up a list of those faculty members who must be considered for tenure during that academic year and shall notify the appropriate department chairpersons. Each department shall consider the merits of each of its own candidates in accordance with the Faculty Handbook, Chapter 3, Part One, Article I, Sections F and I, and shall transmit its recommendations to the Committee on Appointments. A department may, on its own initiative or at the request of one of its faculty, propose a candidate for tenure and/or promotion following the prescribed procedures. In addition, instructors may request consideration for promotion to senior instructor status at any time during their careers (although applicants should try to ensure they have sufficient work histories to be adequately evaluated).

For each candidate considered by the Committee on Appointments, the committee shall review the recommendation of the originating department and may invite the department chairperson or the chairperson's designee to appear before the committee to respond to questions from the committee. If there is a member of the committee from the same department, that member shall not participate in the discussion or voting.

The committee shall prepare a report containing its own recommendation, which shall represent a separate and independent assessment of the candidate as well as a review of the department's recommendation. The committee shall approve, disapprove, or refer recommendations back to the originating department for additional documentation. In the case where recommendations are referred back to departments, the departmental response shall normally be returned to the Committee on Appointments within two weeks. The chair of the Committee on Appointments is responsible for preparing each report and for insuring that the report accurately reflects the views of each member of the committee. In the event that the Committee on Appointments does not concur with the recommendation of the originating department, the committee shall transmit its report to the department chairperson for comment and submission of additional evidence in time for possible reconsideration by the committee before its recommendations are forwarded to the Dean of the College. All recommendations, positive and negative, shall be forwarded.

After receiving recommendations from the Committee on Appointments, the dean may convene a meeting with that committee in order to clarify matters related to the recommendations.

Section 27. Changes in Procedure

The Committee on Appointments shall recommend to the Executive Committee for its approval such rules governing the procedure of the Committee on Appointments and such criteria for the recommendation of appointments, promotions, and tenure as it deems appropriate.

ARTICLE VIII. GRADUATE COMMITTEE

Section 28. Membership

The Graduate Committee shall consist of six tenured, tenure-track, or non-tenure track faculty members, no two of whom are from the same department, and the Dean of the College *ex officio*. The Executive Committee shall appoint the faculty members and shall assure broad

representation of academic disciplines. Faculty members shall serve three-year overlapping terms. The committee shall select its own chair from among its faculty members, and the chair shall serve a one-year renewable term.

Section 29. Responsibilities

The Graduate Committee shall advise the Executive Committee concerning the needs of, and opportunities for, enhancing the environment for scholarly research, creative performance, and other creative activities involving graduate students, particularly with regard to fostering high quality and productive graduate research and creative endeavors. It shall advise on all other matters related to graduate programs in the college including, but not limited to, financing graduate education, academic integrity, and opportunities for new graduate programs. It shall serve as a vehicle for consideration of faculty concerns about graduate matters.

Faculty members of the college may request that the committee chair convene a meeting of the committee to consider an issue. In such cases, the committee chair determines whether to convene the full committee. If the chair declines to convene the committee, the faculty member requesting the meeting may petition the entire committee to request a meeting. If a majority of the committee members agree, the committee chair will convene the committee to address the stated issue. If there is a tie vote, the dean's representative to the committee will break the tie. The Executive Committee must be informed of all such requests sent to the committee chair and kept apprised of the committee's deliberations.

ARTICLE IX. COMMITTEE ON EDUCATIONAL PROGRAMS

Section 30. Membership

The Committee on Educational Programs shall consist of 16 members as follows: nine tenured, tenure-track, or non-tenure track faculty members, no two of whom are from the same department; two undergraduate students appointed by the Undergraduate Student Government; two graduate students chosen by the Graduate Student Senate, the Dean of Undergraduate Studies *ex officio*, the Dean of Graduate Studies *ex officio*, and the Dean of the College *ex officio*. Faculty members to replace members of the Committee on Educational Programs whose terms have expired shall be elected at the regularly scheduled spring faculty meeting. Prior to this meeting, the Executive Committee shall prepare a slate of candidates for this election and additional nominations may be made from the floor. The nominees shall be representative of the broad spectrum of disciplines within the college. Any nomination from the floor shall have the nominee's prior consent. Faculty members shall serve three-year overlapping terms. The committee shall select its own chair from among its faculty members, and the chair shall serve a one-year, renewable term.

Section 31. Responsibilities

The Committee on Educational Programs shall address academic issues relevant to all educational programs in the college—undergraduate, graduate, and continuing—and shall undertake periodic reviews of these programs. It shall be the committee of first instance for all curricular matters, including degree requirements, terms and times of attendance, examinations, and new courses; it may have further jurisdiction as delegated to it by the Executive Committee.

The committee shall report annually to the Executive Committee prior to the end of the academic year. In addition to a review of its activities during the year, the committee shall make recommendations for handling longer term educational issues which it has identified or which have been brought to its attention.

ARTICLE X. DEPARTMENTS

Section 32. Departments

The primary unit of the faculty is the College of Arts and Sciences. For the purpose of organizing the research and teaching functions of the faculty, the College of Arts and Sciences is divided into departments. The departments of the faculty shall be: Anthropology; Art History and Art; Astronomy; Biology; Chemistry; Classics; Cognitive Science; Dance; Earth, Environmental and Planetary Sciences; English; History; Mathematics, Applied Mathematics, and Statistics; Modern Languages and Literatures; Music; Philosophy; Physics; Political Science; Psychological Sciences; Religious Studies; Sociology; and Theater. All faculty members must have an appointment within a department. Programs of study or centers for research which may be established within or between these departments shall not be deemed departments.

Section 33. Department By-Laws

A department may be governed in accordance with by-laws adopted by its membership, ratified by the faculty through the Executive Committee, and filed in the Office of the Dean of the College, provided that the by-laws are consonant with the Constitution of the University Faculty, Policies and Procedures, and with these by-laws.

Section 34. Appointment of Chairpersons and Term of Office

Each department shall have a chairperson who shall report to the Dean of the College. A chairperson shall be appointed by the president upon recommendation of the Dean of the College and after the latter has consulted individually with each member of the faculty of the department and with the Executive Committee. The recommendation to the president shall contain a summary of the consultations with the faculty members of the department. The selection process shall follow the "Guidelines for Selecting of Department Chairpersons" as described in the Faculty Handbook. The aim of the appointment process is to identify a candidate for department chairperson who is acceptable to the president, the Dean of the College, and the department faculty.

Section 35. Responsibilities of Department Chairpersons

The chairperson shall be the executive officer of the department and shall exercise leadership in matters of department policy, including appointments, promotions, research, instruction, and department administration, in accordance with Policies and Procedures. The chairperson shall represent the interests of the department and of individual members of the department to other departments and to officers of the administration, keeping the department faculty informed of administrative actions and the administration informed of department action. Within the limitations imposed by confidentiality of individual faculty members, the chairperson shall keep the faculty of the department informed on issues of concern to the department.

The chairperson shall prepare the department's budget, subject to the approval of the Dean of the College. The chairperson shall monitor the expenditures of the department budget and shall report at least once each year to the faculty of the department on the state of the department budget.

The chairperson shall transmit recommendations for faculty appointments, reappointments, promotion, and tenure, together with his or her independent recommendation, and shall be the hiring officer for all other personnel assigned to the department. The chairperson shall consult with faculty of the department on appointment of non-tenure track persons whose responsibilities include instruction.

The chairperson of each department shall transmit an annual report to the Dean of the College.

Unless the responsibilities are otherwise assigned in the department's own by-laws, the chairperson shall, as necessary, convene and preside at all department meetings, appoint committees, delegate duties, prepare teaching schedules, maintain records, and conduct correspondence.

Section 36. Chair Council

The chairpersons of all the departments shall meet jointly in a Chair Council. The council also shall have a member selected by the Executive Committee from among its members. The Chair Council shall meet regularly, and shall be chaired by the Dean of the College. It shall address the common issues which arise from the responsibilities of department administration and shall function to share information and exchange views of matters of mutual concern to the departments.

Departments may choose to form separate groups of chairpersons from departments with common concerns. These separate groups may convene their own meetings or may be convened by the Dean of the College. They also may bring their concerns directly to the Chair Council or the Dean of the College.

ARTICLE XI. THE DEAN OF THE COLLEGE

Section 37. Appointment

The chief executive officer of the faculty shall be the Dean of the College of Arts and Sciences. The Dean of the College shall be appointed in accordance with Article VII.A of the Constitution of the University Faculty and with the Guidelines for Selection of Deans, Part II., Section VIII., of Policies and Procedures.

Section 38. Responsibilities

The Dean of the College has academic, fiscal, and administrative responsibilities.

a. **Academic**

The Dean of the College shall have the responsibility to build and maintain a faculty whose commitments and quality are consonant with the mission of the college; to provide leadership in undergraduate and graduate student recruitment and selection for the college; to achieve and maintain faculty balance and student balance in the college consonant with the concept of a comprehensive College of

Arts and Sciences; to undertake regular and systematic department reviews with the goal of improving the quality of programs and research activities; to develop and sustain both graduate and undergraduate programs of the highest quality; and to represent the academic needs, ambitions, and plans of the college both to the university administration, to other constituent faculties, and to outside constituencies.

b. Fiscal

The Dean of the College shall be responsible for administering the budget of the college to meet the objectives stated in Subsection a. above, and shall communicate the fiscal needs of the college to the university and other groups. The dean shall aggressively pursue all sources of income—including endowments, grants, tuition income, and gifts—in order to support the objectives of the college. Unless otherwise directed by the president, the dean shall serve as vice chair of the Case Advisory Board and present appropriate funding proposals from departments and programs in the college. The dean shall review the budget periodically with the Executive Committee and shall make an annual report of the budget and fiscal status of the college at a regular faculty meeting of the college.

c. Administrative

The Dean of the College shall assure the development and implementation of policies and best practices to promote effective and efficient operation of the college. Through engagement with unit faculty and stakeholders, the dean shall lead development of strategic and related plans and ensure their implementation and shall promote regular and open communication of information and decisions with faculty and other college stakeholders. The dean shall support the professional development and advancement of faculty and staff of the college, encourage high ethical and professional standards for all members of the college, shall support and encourage leadership development within the college, and shall assure that procedures and practices for evaluation of performance of faculty and staff, promotions, tenure, and leave are clearly documented and communicated. The dean shall communicate directly with each department chairperson regarding fiscal and academic issues within the departments. The dean shall also identify and recommend appointments of department chairpersons to the president.

ARTICLE XII. REPRESENTATION IN UNIVERSITY GOVERNANCE

Section 39. Faculty Senate

The faculty shall provide representatives to the Faculty Senate in accordance with the by-laws of the body. All representatives at large shall be elected by a two-ballot process, the ballots to be prepared and distributed by the Dean of the College and the election to be conducted by the Executive Committee in conjunction with the Dean of the College. The first, or nominating, ballot shall list all faculty members eligible to serve. Those with the greatest numbers of votes shall appear on the second, or election, ballot. The number of nominees on the second ballot shall be twice the number of senators to be elected. The Executive Committee shall resolve any tie votes.

To help faculty make informed choices, the first ballot shall also list the current senators from the faculty with their departmental affiliations.

Section 40. Other Bodies

In other cases when the faculty is asked to select representatives to university bodies and when the mode of selection is not specified, the Executive Committee shall either appoint such representatives or designate an appropriate method of selection.

ARTICLE XIII. POLICIES ON APPOINTMENT, REAPPOINTMENT, PROMOTION AND TENURE OF FACULTY

Section 41. Faculty Titles and Definitions for Special Faculty Members

- a. Lecturer
Lecturers may be either part-time or full-time. The appointment is used for individuals whose primary responsibility is to teach one or more courses. Appointments are for one year. In some cases appointments are made with the possibility of limited renewal.
- b. Adjunct Faculty--(Instructor through rank of Professor)
Part-time service for individuals who hold primary staff or administrative positions within the university, or for individuals whose primary appointment is held outside the university in business, industry, or other institution. Adjunct faculty normally are not compensated. Continuing appointments are renewed annually with a \$0-salary contract after the dean's office has received notification from the department in the spring semester.
- c. Visiting Faculty--(Instructor through rank of Professor)
Full-time service (for the short- or long-term) for individuals from other academic institutions within the United States who are visiting for a period of up to three years, for individuals from foreign academic institutions who will visit for a period of one year or less, or for independent scholars without home institutions. Compensation may or may not be involved.
- d. Secondary Appointment--(Instructor through rank of Professor)
Part-time service for individuals who hold primary faculty appointments within the university. No faculty member may hold a secondary faculty appointment at a rank higher than the rank held in his or her primary department or school. Compensation may or may not be involved. If compensation is to be made, a transfer of funds between departments or schools may be arranged. Usually there is no compensation paid directly to the individual. Continuing appointments are renewed annually by notification to the department during the spring semester.
- e. Clinical Faculty--(Instructor through rank of Professor)
Part-time service for individuals who will engage in clinical training and/or supervision of students. Clinical faculty normally are not compensated.
- f. Research Faculty (Research Associate Professor and Research Professor)

Appointment of research faculty shall follow the procedures described in the “Policies and Procedures for Research Faculty Appointments” approved by CAS and the Faculty Senate in 2000.

Section 42. Qualifications and Standards for Appointment, Reappointment, Promotion, and Tenure

The college evaluates candidates for appointment, reappointment, promotion, and tenure based on evidence of:

- a. expert knowledge of field and a demonstrated commitment to continuing development of that competence,
- b. dedication to and evidence of effective teaching,
- c. commitment to a demonstrated continuing program of research or advanced creative activity and evidence of achievement in this work, and
- d. willingness to perform university service.

Each department in the college must have written criteria for promotion and tenure and should make these available to faculty at least yearly.

Appointments and reappointments for non-tenure track faculty and for special faculty shall be made in accordance with the guidelines in Chapter 3, Part One, Section I.F of the University Faculty Handbook.

Section 43. Rights and Obligations of Faculty

The College of Arts and Sciences provides tenure-track faculty with a base academic year salary and office space. Non-tenure-track and special faculty receive resources as agreed in their contracts. The College of Arts and Sciences is committed to faculty development as described in the Faculty Development Policy adopted by the faculty on March 27, 1997.

Section 44. Procedures for Review of Tenure-track Faculty

The canonical pretenure period in the College of Arts and Sciences is six years. Tenure-track faculty shall receive an annual written evaluation of their professional progress relative to the qualifications for tenure described in the Faculty Handbook (3.1.F.). The department chair is expected to meet with the tenure-track faculty member annually to discuss his or her review. During the faculty member's third year, a formal review of progress toward tenure will be conducted by the eligible department faculty members. Absent sufficient eligible departmental faculty members (minimum of four), the dean will appoint a special committee for this purpose. The department or special committee's report will be reviewed by the Committee on Appointments.

Tenured faculty receive a written review annually. Tenured associate professors should meet with their chair regularly to review their progress toward promotion. Each department has a written mentoring policy outlining department procedures for mentoring faculty through the process of tenure and of promotion. These policies are reviewed and approved by the Executive Committee.

Section 45. Terminations in the Case of Financial Exigent Circumstances

In accordance with Chapter 3, Part One, I, E., 3. of the University Faculty Handbook, these by-laws set forth the following guidelines for termination of faculty in the event of financial exigencies facing the college. If all other remedies are exhausted, tenured faculty shall be terminated in reverse order of seniority of rank. Within a rank faculty shall be terminated in reverse order of length of service within that rank.

ARTICLE XIV. AMENDMENTS

Section 46. Proposal

Amendments to these by-laws may be proposed at any time by the Executive Committee or by any tenured, tenure-track, or non-tenure track member of the faculty to the Executive Committee for review and recommendation. Proposed amendments shall be distributed by the Executive Committee in written form to each voting member of the faculty no later than 14 days before either the next scheduled faculty meeting, which shall include discussion of the proposed amendments in its agenda, or a special meeting called for the purpose of hearing discussion on the proposed amendment(s). Following the meeting, the Dean of the College shall distribute the proposed amendments ~~along with a secret mail ballot~~ via an electronic voting mechanism to all voting members of the faculty.

Section 47. Approval

Approval of amendments shall require a two-thirds majority of the ballots cast, provided however that at least 50 percent of the ballots (excepting those from faculty on leave) have been returned.

ARTICLE XV. RATIFICATION

Section 48. Ratification

These by-laws shall be approved by a two-thirds majority of the total votes recorded. Upon approval, the by-laws shall be submitted to the Faculty Senate for its approval, according to the established procedures of that body.

**December 4, 1992—Ratified by the Faculty of Mathematics and Natural Sciences
and the Faculty of Humanities, Arts, and Social Sciences**

December, 1993—Amended by the Faculty of the College of Arts and Sciences

April 21, 1994—Approved by the Faculty Senate

October 18, 1994—Amended by the Faculty of the College of Arts and Sciences

March 25, 1999—Amended by the Faculty of the College of Arts and Sciences

February 10, 2000—Approved by the Faculty Senate

November 30, 2001—Amended by the Faculty of the College of Arts and Sciences

March 26, 2002—Approved by the Faculty Senate

**April 15, 2003—Amended by the Faculty of the College of Arts and Sciences
October 22, 2003—Approved by the Faculty Senate**

**May 9, 2003—Amended by the Faculty of the College of Arts and Sciences
October 22, 2003—Approved by the Faculty Senate**

**November 30, 2003—Amended by the Faculty of the College of Arts and Sciences
April 29, 2003—Approved by the Faculty Senate**

**October 11, 2005—Revision Approved by the A&S Executive Committee
December 9, 2005—Revision Approved by the Faculty of the College of Arts and Sciences
March 23, 2006—Approved by the Faculty Senate**

October 17, 2007—Section 32 updated to rename Department of Religion to be Department of Religious Studies

**April 28, 2010—Revisions (5) Approved by the A&S Faculty of the College of Arts and Sciences
September 23, 2010—Motions Approved Re: Department of Theater Split and Combination of Departments of Communication Sciences and Psychology to become Department of Psychological Sciences
November 16, 2010—Approved by the Board of Trustees**

**March 15, 2011—Revision to Rename Department of Geological Sciences to become the Department of Earth, Environmental, and Planetary Sciences Approved by the A&S Executive Committee
April 18, 2011—Approved by the Faculty of the College of Arts and Sciences
September 28, 2011—Approved by the Faculty Senate
October 15, 2011—Approved by the Board of Trustees**

**March 9, 2012—Revisions (8) Approved by the A&S Executive Committee
April 20, 2012—Approved by the Faculty of the College of Arts and Sciences
March 20, 2014—Approved by the Faculty Senate**

**October 11, 2012—Revision to Rename Departments of Mathematics and Statistics to be Department of Mathematics, Applied Mathematics, and Statistics Approved by the A&S Executive Committee
November 16, 2012—Approved by the Faculty of the College of Arts and Sciences
March 20, 2013—Approved by the Faculty Senate**

January 8, 2016 – Revision to Section 46 to allow for electronic voting on By-laws Amendments – Approved by the A&S Executive Committee

March 25, 2016 – Approved by the Faculty of the College of Arts and Sciences - Approved by the Faculty Senate